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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

CHINYERE UZOUKWU ,
Plaintiff,

VS. Civil Action No. 11ev-391(RLW)

METROPOLITAN
WASHINGTON COUNCIL OF
GOVERNMENTS, et al.,

~— N —-

Defendants

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Preserly before the Court are the following motions: (P)dintiff’'s Motion for
Reconsideration Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Peh9o Set Aside/Vacate Judgment and Request
for PostJudgment Leave to Amend Claims Under Title VII, 42 U.$8£2000e and 42 U.S.C.

§ 1981 Renewing Argument for Equitable Tolling”; and (2) “Motion for Relief from Judgment
nunc pro tuncPursuant to Rule 60(b)(3).” (Docs. 41, 45.) For the reasons set forth thedow,
Court will denyrelief in part and grant relief ingst. The Court will deny relief with respect to
Plaintiff's Title VII, ADA, ADEA, andnational origin claims, along withny claims akging

gender discrimination or sexual harassmeReluctantly, the Court will grant Plaintiff pest
judgment relief and alloome ofher Section 1981 claims to go forward, as well as some of her
state law claims. Specificall?laintiff assertsufficient facts to support plausible claims for the
following cause of actionEthnicity based Section 1981 Retaliation and Hostile Work
Environment claims asserted agailgtropolitan Washington Council of Governments

(“COG”) and Calvin Smith; Ethnicitydased Section 19&etaliationclaims asserted against
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Paul DesJardin anicheldaRoberts Tortious Interference with Contract claims asserted against
Smith, DesJardin and Roberts for alleged interference with Plaintiff's gmpltt at COG; and
negligent gpervision and/or retention as asserted against CI»@.remaining claims will be

dismissed.

. BACKGROUND FACTS

Pro seplaintiff Chinyere Uzoukwu is Nigerian. (Doc. 21-3, Pl.’s 1st Proposed Amend.
Compl. § 139.)She initiated this action with a complaint in which she asserted dlaides
Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000est seq, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), 29
U.S.C. 8 62%t seq, and the Americans With Disabilities ACADA"), 42 U.S.C. § 1210%t
seq (SeeCompl. 91 1-2.) In the complaint she also mentioned the Equal Pay Act, 29 U.S.C. §
206(d), alleged invasion of privacy, and violatiorttog “District of Columbia Statute of bias
motivated violence or intimidation.”SeeCompl. 1 2, 51, 52.Plaintiff brought her federal
claims againsher former employethe Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments
(“COG). COGis an independent nonprofit association cosgrtof elected officials from
twenty-onelocal governments, members of the Maryland and Virginia state legedataund
members of the U.S. Congres&eéDoc. 2,COGMot. to Dismiss at 2; Compl. 1 50G
terminated Plaintiff's employment in Mar@908 andshe claims her termination was moteet
by discriminatory animus.(Compl. § 14.) She also claims that she suffered retaliation and
harassment during her employment at COG.

Plaintiff broughtherfederal and/or state law claims against eight individe&ndants,

seven of whom were current or former COG employe&se eighth individual defendant,

! The Court will refer tdooth the former and curre@®OG employee<ollectively as
“employees unless otherwise necessary for the sake of clarity.
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Molly Keller, was an employee of MHNewhichis abehavioral health entity thatovides
services taCOG. Plaintiff asserted claims agai&eller for “tortious interferencé and
“bias/politically motivated violence/intimidation in violation of DC Statutes.” (Doc. 26, PI.s’
Resp. to Keller's Mot to Dismiss at 4.)

In an earlier opinionlJzoukwu v. Metrowash Council d Govs., 845 F.Supp.2d 168,
171 n.3 (D.D.C. 2012), this Couwttsmissedvith prejudicePlaintiff's Title VII, ADEA and
ADA claimsasserted against the individual defendants because individuals are nctt tsubje
liability underthese statutesSee Smith v. Jane§64 F. Supp. 2d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2009)I{(here is
no individualliability under Title VI, theADEA or the ADA."), aff'd Smith v. Rhe&Jo. 09—
7100, 2010 WL 1633177 (D.Cir. Apr. 6, 2010) The Court also dismissed with prejudice
these same federal claims as asserted agaiGStbecausélaintiff failed properly tofile her
complaint within 90 days after receiving her EEOC right to sue letteaoukwy 845 F.Supp.
2d at 170-74see42 U.S.C. § 20008¢f)(1) (Title VII); 29 U.S.C. § 626(e) (ADEA); 42 U.S.C.
8§ 12117(a) (applying Title VII limitations period to ADA claimdjurther, the Court found that
she had naticted diligently to preserve her claims atngrefore Plaintiff could not rely on
equitalle tolling to excuse her failure to file her complaint in a timely fasKKion

With no remaining federal claimghis Court dismissed theurported state law claims
without prejudiceas asserted against the sewgtividual COG defendantbecausélaintiff had
not set forth sufficient facts for this Courtdetermine whether diversity jurisdiction existed.
Uzoukwy 845 F. Supp. 2dt173 n.7. The claims asserted agdikseller were dismissedithout
prejudice because there was no evidenc€thet had subject matter jurisdiction over those

claims and no evidence that Keller had bpeaperly servedSee id

2 The Court also dismissed Plaintiff's Equal Pay Act claims without prejudiceibeteer
complaint did not contain any allegations relating to unequal pPagukwy 845 F. Supp. 2dt
173 n.7.
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II. ANALYSIS

A. Motion to Reconsider: Title VII, ADEA, & ADA Claims °

Inasmuch as the federal employment discrimination claims thereuchstone of her
complaint, the motion to reconsider hinges loa timeliness of those claim$A Rule 59(e)
motion [for reconsideration] ‘is discretionary’ and need not be granted unlessttiot digirt
finds that there is an ‘intervening change of controlling law, the availabilingw evidence, or
the need to correct a clear error or prevent manifest injustiEggstone v. Firestone’6 F.3d
1205, 1208 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (citations omittéd)Plaintiff seeks reliepursuant to Rule 59(e)
becausahe claims she can establish clear errazcofding to Plaintiff, the Court misconstrued
and misunderstood the circumstances surrounding the submission and later filing of her
complaint. In herRule 59motion Plaintiff attempts to “clarify” the circumstances surrounding
theinitiation of this lawsuit. (Doc. 41, Mot. to Reconsider at 7.) In her view these
circumstances justify equitably tolling the statute of limitations for her Title VII claims.

Plaintiff's second Rule 59(e) argument is that she is entitled to relieftfrejadgment
because she has “néewvidence. Finally, sheeekselief pursuant to Rule 60(b)(3gbause she
claims shecan establish fraud. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(3) allows relnefd
“final judgment, order or proceedingvhere the Plaintiff can establistiaud (whether

previously called intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or misconduan lmypposing party.”

3 For ease of reference gtiCourt will refer to Plaintiff'sTitle VII, ADEA and ADA claims
collectively as “Title VII” claims unless otherwise necessary for the sake diyclar

* Rule 59(e) providethat “[a] motion to alter or amend a judgment must be filed no later than
28 days after the entry of the judgment.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 5&(&.undisputed that Plaintiff's
motion was timely.
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1. Clear Error Equitable Tolling

A Plaintiff who wishes to pursue Title VII litigation must file her lawsuit within ninety
days of receiving her right to sue letter from the EEG€e42 U.S.C. 8 20008(f)(1) (Title
VII); 29 U.S.C. § 626(e) (ADEA); 42 U.S.C. 8§ 12117(a) (applying Title VII limitationsople
to ADA claims). “Courts apply the ninetgaytime limit strictly and will dismiss a suit for
missing the deadline by even one daWiley v. Johnsogm36 F. Supp. 2d 91, 96 (D.D.C. 2006)
(citation omitted)see Woodruff v. Peterd82 F.3d 521, 525 (D.C. Cir. 2007).

When Plantiff submitted her complairto the Court, on November 16, 2010, she had
eightdaysleft in which to timely file her complaint. Attached to the complaint was an
application to proceed without payment of feaesfdrma pauperior “IFP”) in which she
indicated that she wasymarried and had no dependeste wasinemploye¢gdshe owned a
Mercedes Benz valued at $6,500; she lived in a residence valued between $395,000 and
$430,000; and she had $20,000 in cash dembankaccounts. $eeUzoukwu vMetro. Wash.
Council of Gov'ts11imc-15-UNA at Doc. 1)

The application was deniedthout explanatiorand mailed to Plaintiff who received it
on December 2, 2010. Because the limitations period had been tolled while the Court@dnsider
her IFP application, upon receiving the IFP deardershe arguably had until December 10

(eightadditionaldays to timely file her complaint. See Ruiz v. Vilsack63 F. Supp. 2d 168,

®> As indicated in the original opinion,

There is conflicting authority about whether the issuance of the IFP denial orde
or the plaintiff's receipt of the order ends the tolling peri8deWilliams-Guice,

45 F.3d at 16465; Nkengfack v. Am. Ass'of Retired Person®818 F.Supp.2d

178, 18182 (D.D.C. 2011) (citing cases from the instant court adlliams-
Guice,45 F.3d at 165)Even if the plaintiffs receipt of the order ends the tolling
period, the instant coursireluctant to credit Plainti§’ unsworn claims kout

when she received the IFP denial order and the various documents at issue.
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172-73 (D.D.C. 2011) (noting that complaints submitted with an IFP application are nat “file
but instead “received” by the Court and the ningay-statute of limitations is tolled during the
Court’s review of the IFP applicatipicitations and internal quotationsitted).

In a sworn affidavit, Plaintiff nownore fully explains what occurred between the time
she received the IFP denial order and the time she filed her complaint over two la@nths

In seeking IFP, Plaintiff did not and could not have known about the
concep of tolling. When the IFP denial was returned beyond the 90 days, there
was no indication that Plaintiff had to act by a certain time nor that Plaintiff had
any additional time in which to act. Plaintiff was in a state of confusion and
believed her clan was dead, and thereafter began to research what to do. From
December % 10, Plaintiff began to contact legal aid . . . .

As a last resort Plaintiftontacted thgpro seunit of the Court on about
December 1% or 14" and was informed of the process of rotation by the Judges
and that she should wait and resubmit for reconsideration in the next cycle after
the new year: usually the second week. Plaintiff took the counsel of the pro se
unit, in that they provide couns# litigantsaccorded IFP which Plaintiff was
seeking to obtain.

(Doc. 41, Mot. to Reconsider atid. at Attachment 1, Uzoukwu Aff. 1 14, 15(b), 16, 19.)
On January 11, 201 approximatelyforty days after she received the IFP denial order,

Plaintiff filed a motion seeking reconsideration of Ikt application and asking the Court to

Nonetheless, because crediting Plaintiff's claims has no negative impact on the
Defendants, the court has given Plaintiff the benefit of the doubt.

Uzoukwy 845 F. Supp. 2d at 172 n.5. Consistent with the unsworn assertions she made prior to
dismissal, Plaintiff has now submitted an affidavit that indicates she receevéeRtiuenial

order on December 2, 2010. (Doc. 41-1, Mot. to Reconsider at Attachment 1, Uzoukwu Aff. q
14))

¢ Although Plaintiff repeatedly mentioned her alleged discussions with the Gadhet briefs

she filed prior to dismissal of her claims, the nature of those alleged discusgidhe affice

with whom she communicated were not entirely clear frlmenvoluminous submissionsSde,
e.g, Doc. 25, Pl.’s Opp. to Keller Mot. to Dismiss at 3 n.1.) Thus, the Court did not address
these alleged communicatiomsits prior opinion except to note that the Clerk’s Office is
prohibited from giving legahdvice SeeUzoukwy 845 F. Supp. 2d at 173 (citing 28 U.S.C. §
955).



“Reinstate Filing and Relate the Time Back to Date Presented On Nové&#€10.” See
Uzoukwu v. Metro. Wash. Council of Goy1d-mc-15-UNA at Doc. 1) Attached to that

motion was a copy of her November IFP applicationjithe resubmission Plaintifrossed

out $20,000 and inserted $17,000 as the amount she had in cash or in her bank aSmmints. (
id.) In her motion she explained that she was still unemployed and she had discovédred that
EEOC charge had not been fully investigatesleqid) She also asked theoGrt to consider her
complaint as timely filed.On February 7, 2011 Plaintiff received an order denying her motion
andnine days later, on February 16, 20d4iefiled her complaintWhich shedated November

16, 2010) and paid the filing fee.

In the prior opinion, this Coufound that Plaintiff failed to set forth facts entitling her to
equitable tolling of the 9@aylimitationsperiod in which a party may initiate a lawsuiteaft
receivingan EEOC right to sue lettetUzoukwy 845 F. Supp. 2d at 172-73.Ithough Plaintiffs
complaint was “received” by the Clerk of the Cowithin the requsite time period, she was
inexcusably tardy with her payment of the filing fee afterdpglicationto proceedFP was
denied

Rather than pay the fee by December 10, or within a rebotime thereafter,

seeWilliams-Guice,45 F.3d at 165Rlaintiff waited until January 11, 2011 to file

a motion to reconsider and request permission to pay the filing fee. This motion

was filed 32 days after the December 10 deadline and the motion was not

accompanied by ganent of the filing fee.Indeed, Plaintiff did not pay the filing

fee until she filed the complaint in the instant lawsuit on February 16, 2011,
which was 68 days after the December 10 deadline.

" It was unclear from the prior record when Plaintiff actually received ther deshying her
motion to reconsider. Thus, in making its ruling, the Court calculated the dusatiseen the
orderanddate she filed her complaint as sixteen dékintiff now presents an affidavit
indicating she received the denial order on February 7. Thus, rather than waigeg siays to
pay the filing fee, she waited 9 days to pay the fee. This recalculation doésnge ¢che
Court’s decision.

The undersigned Judge did noleron Plaintiff's IFP motions(SeeUzoukwu v. Metro. Wash.
Council of Gov'ts11mc-15-UNA.)
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Uzoukwy 845 F. Supp. 2d at 172. Thus, equitdbling of her claims was not appropriate.
“The courts equitable power to toll the statute of limitations will be exercised only in
extraordinary and carefully circumscribed instanceéddndy v. Sec’wfthe Army 845 F.2d
1051, 1057 (D.C. Cir. 1988)As our Circuit has recognized
[tihe Supreme Court has suggested .that courts may properly allow tolling
where “a claimant has received inadequate notice, where a motion for
appointment of counsel is pending and equity would justify tolling the statutory
period until the motion is acted upon, where the court has led the plaintiff to
believe that she had done everything required of her, or where affirmative
misconduct on the part of a defendant lulled the plaintiff into inaction.”
Id. (alterations omitted(citing Baldwin Cnty Welcome @. v. Brown 466 U.S. 147, 151
(1984)). Moreover, in order to establish that equitable tolling is appropriate, a plaunsiff
“demonstrate thds]he acted diligently to preserve h[etaim.” SeeWilliams v. Court Servs.
And Offender Supervision Agency for D.840 F. Supp. 2d 192, 196 (D.D.C. 2012).
Plaintiff contends that she has met this standard. First, she pleads ignorandavef the
with respect to her obligations after she receivediteelFP denial orderBut apro se
plaintiff’'s ignorance of théaw does not provide a sufficient basis for tolling the limitations
period. See, e.gBarrow v. New Orleans S.S. Ass932 F.2d 473, 478 (5th Cir. 1991)
(affirming dismissal of age discrimination claim where plaintiff failed to file a timel@EE
charge and noting that “lack of knowledge of applicable filing deadlines ishasis for tolling.
Neither is a plaintiff's unfamiliarity with the legal process nor his lack of ssgmatiorduring
the applicable filing period)”(citing James vU.S. Postal Serv835 F.2d 1265, 1267 (8th Cir.
1988) (some citations omitted)

Next, she appears to argue that she actédilagently” as possible given th#hadequate

notice” she receiveffom the Court’'s ordersSee Mondy845 F.2d at 1057Williams, 840 F.
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Supp. 2d at 196. She explains that she “could not have surmosethé bare notice of the
[original] IFP denialbeyond the 90-day filing requirement that she had eight (8) days or until
December 10 to pay the filing fee.” (Doc. Mot. to Reconsider at 12-13.) This argument is
unconvincingoecause it essentially amounts to the same argument she made abehe: ithat
ignorant of the law. As noted aboveer unfamiliarity with the lavdoesnot providesufficient
legal justification to toll the limations period.

Plaintiff also appars to argue that she acted as diligeaflyossible givewhat Plaintiff
describes as thddck ofadequatenotice” shereceivedirom thePro S unit. This argument also
fails. The Court cannot operate by accepting, at face value, statementgiffamtsliregarding
the natureof their conversations with Court personnel. Thulsen evaluating a plaintiff's
equitable tolling argument, the Court must considenttare of the purported statement, as well
as any allegedircumstances surrounding the purportechmunications with Qurt personnel.

As an initial matter the Cout, the Pro Seunit andthe Clerk’s officeareprohibited from
giving legal advice.See, e.g.28 U.S.C. § 959Vala v. Crown Bay Marina, Inc704 F.3d 239,
243-44 (3d Cir. 2013). Given suosstrictions, Plaintiff's credibility with regard to her
purported conversation is seriously undermin&dditionally, the information she claims to
have received from thero Seunit is illogical. Essentially Plaintiff claims she was told that she
had a chance afbtaining approval for hdFP applicationsimply by “resubmitting” it to a
different judge. But ilefies common sense éapect that resubission of the saminancial

information, with namaterialdifferences, will garner a different result simply because a different

judgewill review the applicabn several weeks later
Thus,Plaintiff failed to act diligently.While she may not have known about the concept

of equitable tolling, she could have gdhe filing fee along with henotion for reconsideration,



in which she askethe Court to “reinstatefier complaint back to the November date. Instead,
she electedo submit, along with her motioassentially the same IFP application as was
previously denied. Given Plaintiff’'s training as a paralegal, (Doc. 27 at ECF p. 7), he
familiarity with court rules and court filing8as well as her substantial financial resources,
Plaintiff's purported reliance on reconsideration of her IFP application wasamsanable.

Indeed, there is a strong argument that she could not have reasonably believed she was
eligible for IFP status when she submittedfirst IFP application because the application
requires a declaration that the applicastuthable to pay” the $350 needdinitiate a lawsuit.
(SeeGout. Form AO 240)(Rev. 07/10) (emphasis added). Given the several thousand dollars of
cash she had at her disposal, Plaintiff was most certainly able to pay the #g5@dl Thus,
once thdirst IFP application was denied, she should have been maaetiya’® Finally,
allowing Plaintiff's resubmitted IFP application to toll the limitations period undesethe
circumstances would only encourage litigants to strategically resubmit addlitivolous IFP

applications or motions to reconsider in an effort to frrtbll the limitations period.

® Plaintiff's explanation that she “believed the fact thatEE©C did not investigate her
retaliation claim was new material to support her cause for [resubmitting-Rérgypplication is
not credible. $eeDoc. 41, Mot. to Reconsider at 8.)

° In addition to the present case, Plaintiff has filed at leasatiitional pro seactions in

federal court and at leaisto in state courtincluding an employment discrimination action
against a prior employeiSee Uzoukwu v. Robinsd@112¢v-3228-DKC (D. Md.);Uzoukwu v.
Prince George’sCommunity CollegeB:12€v-2199-JFM (D. Md.)Uzoukwu v. AMEX Int’l Ing.
Civil Action No. 2011 CA 004405 B (District of Columbia Superior Court); Doc. 45, PI's Rule
60(b) Mot. at 9 n.3.

1 1t is worth noting that, in documents she filed prior to dismissal dfalaeuit, Plaintiff

admitted that she did not pay the filing fee when she delivered her complainQoutie

because she was “unemployed at the time, and struggling with her mougiggs; other

expenses; and seeking to prevent efforts by some actors in [another lawsurtuad tief of her
property; in addition to anticipating additional legal costs and expenses for thet jpiEsm.”

(Doc. 33, PI's Consolidated Response at 3.) Such reasons do not equate to an inability to pay the
fee.
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These facts taken togethearsuade the Court that Plaintiths failed to establish that she
“received inadequate notit@pbout her right®r thatthe “court . . ledthe plaintiff to believe
that she had done everything required of’héondy v. Sec’y dhe Army 845 F.2d 1051, 1057
(D.C. Cir. 1988) (discussing justifications for equitable tolling) (citationstedjit “To merit
equitable tolling, [plaintiff]l must also show that extraordinary circumstsupcevented her from
meeting her filing deadlinesquitable tolling is meant to ensure that the plaintiff is not, by dint
of circumstances beyond [her] control, depd\wf a reasonable time in which to file suit.”
Dyson vD.C,, 710 F.3d 415, 422 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (citation, internal quotatimassalterations
omitted). Here the circumstances were completely in Plaintiff’'s control and equitdlohg is
not appropmte. For these same reasons, Plaintiff has failed to establish “cleampemnsarant to

Rule 59(e) andhermotion will be denied with respect to her Title VII claims.

2. “New” Evidence & Allegations of Fraud

Next Plaintiffargues she ientitled torelief from dismissabf her Title VII claims
pursuant to Rule 59(ebecause she has “new evidence” ahd is entitled to relief, pursuant to
Rule 60(b)(3)pecause she claims she eamtablish fraud Plaintiff's argumerd centeraround
mental healttauthorizations of releagbat were attached to axhibit filed bydefendant¥eller
andMHNet, an entitythatprovidesCOG withmental healtiservices (SeeDoc. 46, Keller Opp.
to Rule 60(b)(3) Mot. at Exs. 1, 2.)

Although Plaintiff'sarguments areearly impossible to follow, steppears to allegiat
oneof herformersupervisors, defendant Calvin &mith was involved in afalse and fabricated
mandatory” counselingcheme, whereby Smitlequired that she participate in counseling or

face temination. SeeDoc. 41-2, Mot. to Reconsider at Ex. 1; Proposed Amend. Compl. 11 77,
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109.)** SmithreferredPlaintiff to MHNetfor mental healtitounseling andHNet putPlaintiff
in contact with defendant Molly Kellewho is theLead EAP Management Csultant forthe
company. (Doc. 235 Keller Mot. to Dismiss at 7.) Specificallgeller’s job involves linking
persons who need behavioral health care support with providers of those sefdiges. (
According to Keller, as part of the referral procédajntiff completed a standard conséorin
authorizing release of confidential information which allow#idNet to make disclosures to
COG. (SeeigDaoc. 46, Keller Opp. to Rule 60(b)(3) Mait 2,6 n.2.)

In Plaintiff's Rule 59 motionsheclaimed that she was not in need of mental health
counseling andhe emphaticallinsisted that she did not sign the forms. (Doc. 41, Mot. to
Reconsider at 14; Doc. 44, Pl.’s Mot. to Reconsider Reply gt RRjintiff maintains she did not
sign any such form, regardless of counsels [sic] representation.”) AwagaodPlaintiff, she did
not know the forms existed until after theesent action wagismised (Doc. 41, Mot. to
Reconsider at 14.) Apparently, pursuant to Local Rule,/aintiff notified Defendants that
she intended to file the present Motion to Reconsiderianlde process of exchanging emails
over the matter, Keller's attorney sent Plaintiff a copy of the releases. 4bpKellerOpp. to
Rule 60(b) Mot. at 4jd. at Exs. 36.) Inasmuch as she was purportedly unaware of the releases
until after dismissal of this action, Plaintiff claims the releases cotestitew evidencé
thereby justifying Rule 59 relief from the final judgment dismissing her Title Vilnda

Later, inher Rule 60(b) filing, Plaintiffaised claims of fraudnd changed her story
regarding her knowledge di¢ releasesFirst, she claimed that Keller’s attorney, Jesse Stein,

altered the releases prior tbrfg them as exhibits in response to her Rule 59 motion. (Doc. 45,

1 Calvin L. Smith, Sr., wh is AfricanrAmerican, was COG’Birector of Human Services
Planning and Public Safety, as well as one of Plaintiff's two supervisors. (Amengl.Goii,
25))
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Pl.’s Rule 60(b) Mot. at 5, 8, 13.) Plaintiff does not explain how the documentsavayeen
altered, but she asserts t&a¢in filed the releases with malice and for improper purposesat(
13.) Additionally,Plaintiff claims she wapublicly stigmatized when thmental healtlteleases
were filed on the open docketSded.; Doc. 25, Pl.’s Opp. to KelteMot. to Dismiss at .§

Plaintiff also claims that she was prejudiced in her attemptosepute her lawsuit
becaus€€OG andVIHNet intentionally withheld the releases from her prior to dismissal of her
lawsuit. (Doc. 45, PIl.’s Rule 60(b) Mot. at 5; Doc. 48, Pl.’s Rule 60(b) Reply at 12, 17-18.) She
claims these documents wdan her employment file and that COG fraudulently withheld the
documents from her despite her efforts to obtain access to her file. (D&t's4%ule 60(b)

Mot. at 6-7, 15.)

Finally, she contradicts thetatements ian earlier motion by admitting she was aware of

the forms prior to dismissal of this action. Plaintiéfw claims she
stated she never signed and submitted any documents to Molly Keller and
MHNet . . . because®laintiff was forced and coerced to signdasitbmit
documents, Releases, amartger documents she was given to sign . . . and

copies of those documents were never provided to Plaintiff . . . .

Plaintiff maintains the Releases are fraudulent because they were
obtained through deception and fraud without full disclosure.

(Doc. 48, Pl.’s Rule 60(b) Reply at 16, 8.)

This coerobn she appears to blame on an alleged fraudulent scheme involving a host of
charaters. According to PlaintiffSmith’s purpose in referring her to Keller was twofold. First,
the referral was partially motivated by discriminatory anim&eeDoc. 41-2, Mot. to
Reconsider at Ex. 1, Proposed Amend. Compl. 11 77, 103, $@89gnd, Plaintiff claims
Smith’s goal waso label Plaintiff as having mental health issues so thablld obtain control

over her personal affairs aottain control over her family’s real propert§poc. 45, Pl.’'s Rule
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60(b) Mot. at 8, 16; Doc. 48, Pl.’s Rule 60(b) Reply at 2, 4, 14.) AccotdiRgnintiff, Smith
engagedn this scheme along with one of Plaintiff's former employers, Harold J. Gim

Plaintiff previously sue@nd whom Plaintiff claims tried to involve her in an alleged attempt to
embezzle money from the Democratic National Committee. (Doc. 45, Pl.’s RuleMix(kgt 9

n.3; Doc. 48, Pl.’s Rule 60(b) Reply at 13, 16 Plaintiff claimsthe alleged scheme involving
Smith and Gist is, at least in part, politically motivated and thavalved Smith employing her

at COG in a “fraudulent position.” (Doc. 45, PIl.’s Rule 60(b) Mot. at 9 n.3; Doc. 48, Pl.’s Rule
60(b) Reply at 8, 16.)

Although newly discovered evidence that was previously unavailable may fRatdy
59(e)relief, Plaintiff has not established discovery of any new evidence. She admits ske signe
the releases, albeit under alleged coercion. Thus, she was aware that the dexistedgpsior
to dismissal of her claims

To the extent Plaintifargues that sheatisfiesRule 59(e)’s'new evidence” standard
because&opies of the documents wareavailabé prior to dismissal of hedaims, her argument
is unpersuasive. Plaintiff has pointed toreason why this “new” evidence should change the
Court’s decision with respect tostnissal of her Title VII claims: the documents do not relate to
the filing of her IFP motions or the timeliness of her complaint. TRu$e 59(e) reliefs not
available

With respect to her Rulg0(b)(3)motion, Plaintiffmay only obtairrelief if she can
establish fraud bglear and convincing evidenc&ee Shdprd v. Am.Broad Cos., Inc.62
F.3d 1469, 1477 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (citations omitted). Bwblere a Plaintiff can meet this

standard, the Plaintiff must also establish that the ffprevented hei from fully and fairly

2 Prior to her employment at COG, Plaintiff apparently sued Gisirter alia, sexual
harassment, discrimination, and fraud.
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presentingher] casé€. 11 Charles Alan Wrilgt & Arthur R. Miller, FederalPractice and
Procedure Wright & Miller 8 2852 (3d ed.) (hereinafter “Wright & Miller”).

Plaintiff cannot meet these requirements. Flistause she relies solely on
unsubstantiated allegations she has not presemteda scintilla of evidence, let alone clear and
convincing evidengeof fraud Indeed, with respect to her claim that Keller's attorney altered an
exhibit, Plaintiff failed topoint out the nature of the alleged alteration. Seceweh if one were
to believethat Smith, Gist, COG, Keller and Stein were involved infdm$astical scheme
Plaintiff fails to show how this alleged fraud saves her untimely Title VII claides. allegation
that she was unable to properly prosecute her Title VII claims prior to tHestise of the
releases is unfounded becans¢hing about the releases changes the circumstances surrounding
the filing of her IFP motions or her payment of fiiag fee.

Thus, Plaintiff is not entitled to relief pursuant to either Rule 59 or 60. She simply does
not have “new’evidence nor does shkave “clear and@onvincing”’evidence of frauthat
prevented her from “fully and fairly presenting her casegeWright & Miller, 11 Fed. Prac&

Proc. 8§ 2852 As such her motions for relief from judgment will be denied with respect to her

Title VII, ADA, and ADEA claims®®

B. Section 1981 Claims Plaintiff’'s Motion to Amend the Complaint

Unlike Title VIl claims, a plaintiffs ability to bring a 42 U.S.C. § 19&Inployment

discrimination claim is not tied to receipt of the EEOC right to sue leffdtus, Plaintiffargues

13 Plaintiff also claims that Stein engaged in unethical behavior and miscondiloidthie

releases on the Court’s public docket. However, Plaintiff has proffered no evidence
substantiate such serious and potentially damaging allegations, partiadiarl/ the releases do
not contain any private or health related informatiddeeDoc. 46, Keller Opp. to Rule 60(b)(3)
Mot. at Exs. 12.) Similarly, her allegations that Defendants improperly withheld the documents
from her are without merit inasmuch Defendants had no duty to disclose the documents prior t
discovery.
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that the timeliness problems thdaguedher Title VII claims didnot prevent her from asserting
claims under Section 198 K5eeHamilton v. D.C,.852 F. Supp. 2d 139, 144 (D.D.C. 20{ur
year statute of limitationgxiting 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1658)jones v. R.R. Donnelley & Sons Gatl
U.S. 369, 382-83 (200¢) She asserts that she raised3leetion 198klaim in her complaint
and she cites to page twolarcomplaint in support ahis assertion (Doc. 41, Pl.’'s Mot. to
Reconsider a8, 15-16.)

However,a review of her complairghows she only cited Title VII, 42 U.S.C. 2000e, in
her complaint.After COG noted this deficiency in its refdly the current motigrPlaintiff
responded bgssentially admitting that she did not explicidyse Section 1981 claims in her
complaint. (Doc. 44, Pl.'s Mot. to Reconsider Reply at 2)eSventon toargue howeverthat
such claims were implied based on her allegatiegarding individual liability for retaliation
and she notethat she did raise Sectid®81 claims irher proposecamendeccomplaints. $ee
Doc. 44, Pl.’s Mot. to Reconsider Reply at 1,,83Doc. 45, Pl.’'s Rule 60(b) Mot. at p. 4 n.1.)

Once this Court dismissed Plaintiff's complaint with prejudice, she “could arhend |
complaint only by filing . .. a 59(e) motion to alter or amend a judgment combined Rutle a
15(a) motion requesting leave of court to amend their complaiimestone v. Firestoner6
F.3d 1205, 1208 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (citations omitted)'|He validity of the latter order rests
partly on the propriety of the first. [As noted above, a] Rule 59(e) motion ‘is discrgtiand
need not be granted unless the district court finds that there is an ‘intervemge ciia
controlling law, tke availability of new evidence, or the need to correct a clear error or prevent
manifest injustice.” Firestone 76 F.3dat1208. If the Rule 59(e) standard is met, then the less
stringent Rule 15(a) standard comes into piegve to amend a complambder Rule 15(a)

“shall be freelygiven when justice so requiresSee id(citations omitted).
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With respect to the Rule 58andardthe Court finds that Plaintiff is entitled to post-
judgment consideratioregarding tle viability of her Section 198dlaims. While Plaintiff's
complairt did not contain any references to Section 1981, she diskfileraimotions to amend
hercomplaintand attached sevenaloposed amended complaints, some of whpetically
included Section 1981 claimsSdeDoc. 21-3, Doc. 26-2.Because Plaintifhever pointed out
to the Court that she sought to add Section 1981 claims, the Court did not reach the issue of
whether she should be allowed to amend her claims. Thus, in oftevent “manifest
injustice,”the Court must now consider Plaintiff's motions to ame8de Firestone/6 F.3d at
1208.

“Rule 15a) provides that if a defendant files a motion to dismiss under Rule 12{t)(6)
failure to state a claim, the plaintiff may amend the complaint as a matter of couiae2dith
days of sevice of the motion to dismiss. h&it aspect oRule 1%a) ensures, among other things,
that the plaintiff has an opportunity to amend a complaint so as to avoid dismisslabhase
technicality or readily corrected error that the defendant has identifitallins v. Wackenhut
Servs, Inc,, 703 F.3d 122, 13¢D.C. Cir. 2012) (J. Kavanaugh, concurring). Only eight days
afterCOG's motion to dismiss, Plaintiff met this twertye day deadline by filing her response
to COGs motion, combined with a motion to amend her complai&eeDocs. 2-3.) However,
in so doing she failed to comply with the rules of the Court. iSpaty, shefailed to attach a
copy of her proposed amended complamtequired by theocal Rules.See LCVR 7(i) & 15.1
(“A motion for leave to file an amended pleading shall be accompanied by arababihe

proposed pleading as amended”).}* She alsdfailed to explain the basis for her motion to

1 Additionally, Plaintiff failed to confer with opposing caei prior to filig the motionfailed
to include in her motion a statement that she had conferred with opposing counsel, dnid faile
include a statement indicating whether the motion was opp@&sa.CvR 7(m).
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amend indeed she did not discuss amendment of the complaint in her Dhie$, Plaintiff lost
her ability to amend as of righEeeRolling 703 F.3d at 130 (upholding denial of a motion to
amend where plaintiff failed to indie a proposed amended complaint and notindg'éhadre
request in an opposition to a motion to dismiss—without any indication of the particular grounds
on which amendment is sought—does not constitute a motion within the contemplation of Rule
15(a)’) (citation omitted).
Even where amendment as of right is foreclogezlDistrict Court has discretion to
grant leave for a plaintiff to amend and Ruleptévides that leave to amend “shall be freely
given when justice so requiresPed. R. Civ. P. 15(8)). Indeed, it is an abuse of discretion to
deny leave to amenalithout a sufficient reason such ‘asdue delay, bad faith or dilatory
motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by anméngnesiously
allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of allowance of the amenamjent,
futility of amendment.”Foman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962XeeFirestone 76 F.3d at
1208 (citations omitted). The nanevant generally carries the burden of persuathegourt to
deny the motionDove v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth21 F.R.D. 246, 247 (D.D.C. 2004)
(citationomitted). In opposing the motioBOG argueshere is no basis for allowing post-
judgment relief pursuant to Rule 59(e) and they point to Plaintiff’'s numerous proposed
amendments
With reluctance, the Court finds th@OG has not met itburden. The Court’s reluctance
is due to Plaintiff's failure to comply with the local rules of this Court lagxdfailure to alert
both the Court an€@OGthat she was asserting new claims in her proposed amended complaints.
Plaintiff's failure in this regard was compounded by her voluminous filings in whieh s

mostly repeated her equitable tolling arguments, repeated her factuabasserd raised
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entirely new factual assertions, some of which had nothing whatsoever to do with her
employmentt COG." After Plaintiff's failed attempt to amend her complaint as of right, she
filed a repedtious “motion to reinstateher claims, followed by a repetitious suaply toCOGs
motion to dismiss - both of which mostly rehashed the arguments she had previais&y in
her original response. However, the sur-reply included another motion to amend herrdomplai
(Doc. 21.) While she did attach a proposed amended complavats ttventyeight pages long,
contained 160 paragraphs attefailed to file“an original of the proposed pleading as
amended SeelLCvR 7(i). Moreover, although she cited to Section 1981 in the proposed
complaint, she did not cite to Section 1981 in her motion and her only explanation for seeking
the amendment was that she had “obtained information and documents . . . which support[ed] an
amerded complaint. (Doc. 21, Br. at 15.) Thagainneither the Defendantsr the Court were
sufficiently put on notice that Plaintiff sought to add Section 1981 claims.

Plaintiff proceeded to file four additionabluminous pleadings, each containimgtions
to amend in which she either failed to state the reasons for seeking the amesrdsteat] that

the proposed amended complaint did axd any additional claimS. Although she attached

> Prior to dismissal, Plaintiff filed ten briefs totadj 110 pages, accompanied by 276 pages of
attached exhibits and proposed amended complaints.

* SeeDocs. 25/26 Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendant Molly Keller's Rule 12(b)(2), 12(b)(5)
and 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss and in tAlernative Request fdreave to Amend Complaint”
Doc. 27, “Plaintiffs’ [sic] Opposition, On the Grounds of Manifest Injustice, to mifets [sic]

Rule 12(f) Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Surreply and Amended Complaint, and by Eatens
Dismiss Plaintiff's Pleadings &n the Aternative Requéddor Leave to Amend Complaint” at 2,

11, 17-18; Doc. 30, “Motion for Notice and Leave to Transfer (Change of Venue) Pursuant to
U.S.C. 28 § 1404(a) of an Action in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia

CA No. 2011-0440% to the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, Pursuant to
Supplemental Jurisdiction, U.S.C. 28 § 1367(a) and in the Alternative, Request for Leawe to Joi
and/or Amend”; Doc. 34, “Plaintiff's Notice of Filing an Opposition and Requestdavé. to
Amend an Action in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia CA No. 2011 — 0-8-5 —
(the Superior Court Action”) Pending Request for Supplemental Jurisdiction, U.S.C. 28 8
1367(a).”
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amended complaints to the four motions, she failed to include “an original of the proposed
pleading as amendedSeelLCvR 7(i). Additionally,taken togethethe four amended
complaints totad approximately 164 pages, contained approximately 877 paragraphs, and
included additional defendants and claims totallyelated to themploymentdispute. While
some of the proposed amended complaintsdidainSection 198klaims, Plaintiffdid not
indicate in any of her motions to amend that she sought to add these claims.

It was not until she filed a motion for appointment of counsel, along with a motion to
amend, that she actually mentioned Section 1981 in the body of a m@&meof. 35,
“Plaintiff's Motion and Memorandum in Support for Appointment of Counsel, Joinder of
Additional Defendants and Request for Leave to File and Serve the Third (3rdiif@et [sic]
Complaint”at 1.) But she did not indicate she was asserting a new claim and did not argue that
dismissal of such aa@im on the basis of untimelinesss irappropriate.

Despite thee failures, th€ourt is mindful that leave to amend should‘foeely given]”
and the circumstances here support liberal leave to ansaefed. R. Civ. P. 15(&3). First,
herethere are ntrepeated failurgs] to cure deficiencies by previous amendmerfggstone
76 F.3dat 1208,becausesection 1981 claims were already include@laintiff's prior proposed
amended complaints.

Secondwhile Plaintiff's filings were excessive, there is no evidence that she aitted w
“bad faith,” “dilatory motive” orfor the purpose otausing “undue delay Seed. Indeed, any
delay has not inuretd Plaintiff's benefit. Moreover, in this Circuit undue delay alone is not a
sufficient reason to deny a motion to ameAdchinsorv. D. C., 73 F.3d 418, 426 (D.C. Cir.
1996)(citing Foman v. Davis371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962))nstead, ourts should consider the

extent to which an undue delay has caused “prejudice to the opposing pactyinson 73 F.3d
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at 426 (citation omitted).When undertaking this consideration, the Court should “consider the
position of both parties and the effect the request [to amend] will have on them. Thgsantail
inquiry into the hardship on the moving party if leave to amend is denied. . .hppdtantial
undue prejudice to the non-moving pakytight & Miller, 6 Fed. Prac, & Prog 1487, 716-17.

Finally, undue prejudice occurs mamply because the amendment will cause harm to the
non-movant: “[ijndeec&anyamendment desiga to strengthethe other sides case will in some
way harm the opponentForemost-McKesson, Inc. v. Islamic Republic of Ji@iv. A. No. 82-
0220, 1988 WL 122568, at *4 n.16 (D.D.C. Nov. 8, 1998) (emphasis in origafiad)in
relevant part 905 F.2d 438 (D.C. Cir. 1990). Rather, “the opposing party ‘must show that it was
unfairly disadvantaged or deprived of the opportunity to present facts or evidence wloakdit w
have offered had the amendments been timelydfemost 1988 WL 122568, at4 (citations
andintemal quotation®mitted). h other words, the non-movant “must demonstrate unfairness
in a procedural or timing sensehat at this stage of the litigation they are prevented in some
way from asserting an [sicgsponse to the amendment that they otherwise would have used had
the amendment been timelyld. (citations omitted)in re Vitamins Antitrust Litg.217 F.R.D.
36, 34 (D.D.C. 2003) (“In essence, to show prejudice, the non-movant must show unfairness in
procedure or timing preventing the non-movant from properly responding.”).

Here Defendantg have nomet this standard for establishingdue prejudice. This is not
a case where the party seekingoend hadsufficientopportunityto state the amendetaim(]
and failed to do so.’'SeeRobinson vDistrict of Columbia 283 F.R.D. 4, 7 (D.D.C. 2012)
(denying leave to amend complaint whenger alia, plaintiff was aware of the facts that gave
rise to her Section 1983 claim at the time she filed the complaint, but inex ittt leave to

amendhree years and nine months lafenationsand internal quotatioramitted); Wright&
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Miller, 6 Fed. Prac, & Proc. § 1487, 643-4eitheris this a case where Plaifitfought to

amend near the end of discoverfgendiscovery closediround the timef the pretrial

conference or during trialSeeWright & Miller, 6 Fed. Prac, & Proc. § 1487, 643-4%C]ourts

have allowed amendments when it was established that doing so would not unduly increase
discovery or delay the trial, and when the opponent could not claim surpAsklitionally, this

is not a case where Plaintiff's Section 1981 claimsndrally unrelated to thallegations

asserted in the original complairbeeMississippi Ass’n of Cogpv. Farmer Home Admin139
F.R.D. 542, 54%D.D.C. 1991) (denying motion to amend complaint because the proposed
“claims hd] no relationship to the original suit, and amendment of the complaint in this regard
would radically shift the scope and nature of the litigation”).

In contrasto the lack of prejudice tbefendantsit appears that Plaintiff will be
prejudiced if she is not allowed to amend her complaint. Thet@oteas that because Plaintiff
never raised her Section 1981 claims in her original complaint, she could hawerfded
lawsuit asserting those claims rather than seek leave to arfienckever, it appears to the Court
that this course of action is no longer available because Plaintiff's Seé8dnclaims would be
untimely if filed independently at this juncturg But to Plaintiff's credit, the present motion to
amend was pending at the tithe statute ran on her Section 198&imsand therefore she
cannot necessarily be faulted for failing to have filed a new lawSe#Mayerson v. Wash.

Mfg. Co, 58 F.R.D. 377, 381 (E.D. Pa. 1972) (granting motion to amend complaint where
plaintiff filed motion within the limitations perioshstead ofiling a new lawsuit and where at

the timethe court considered the motion the limitations period had run).

7 Plaintiff was terminated in March 2008. Thus, a new lawsuit raising Section 198% tiad
to be filed by March 2014.¢é., within four years). As such, her Section 1981 claim would be
untimely were she to file a new lawsuit.
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Finaly, the Court finds that our Circuit’'s expressions of concern over poterdigiiyed
statutes of limitationn Ciralsky v. CIA 355 F.3d 661, 673 (D.C. Cir. 2004), weigh heavily in
favor of allowingthe Plaintiff hereto amend.Ciralskyinvolved a plaitiff whose 11%age 367
paragraph longomplaintwas challenged via motion to strikll. at 665. Théistrict Court
granted the motion because the complaint did not cotdahortandplain statement of the
claim” as required under Rule 8(d}l. at664-65. Although the plaintiff amended the
complaint, it was 61 pages long and contained 105 paragaa@mendedhereby failing to
comply with theDistrict Court’s ordeto eliminate the excesdd. at 665. In response,
Defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint amidtreet Court granted the motion,
without prejudice, but warned the Plaintiff that any further amendments whiath tait®mply
with Rule 8 would be dismissed with prejudidel.

Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff filed Rule9%e) and Rule 15(a) motions explaining that he
would be unfairly prejudiced if not allowed to amend because the statute of bnstatnay be
deemed to have run on some of his claims if not allowed to procékdPlaintiff attached an
amended complairbut did not spell out which, if any, claims were time bari®de id
Denying the Rule 59 motion and finding the Rule 15 motion moot, the District Court noted that
Plaintiff had failed to alert the Court to the possible time bar prior to its rulitigeomotion to
dismiss andtherefore he had failed to show manifest injustidd.

Although the Circuit found no abuse of discretion, it was “nonetheless troubled by the
fact that an affirmance of [the District CourtRlile 59(e)isposition would terminatii[e]
lawsuit, not because of the invalidity ofdmtiff's] claims, but because the plaintiff's attorneys
failed to satisfyRule 8(a)or to advise the court of the consequences of a dismiddalat 673-

74. ‘{O]ther things being equal,” noted t@&cuit, our “jurisprudential preferencis for
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adjudication of cases on their merits rather than on the basis of formalitlest674(citing
Wright & Miller, 5 Fed. Prac, & Proc. Civ. 8 1217, 178 (2d ed. 1990) (alterations and some
citations omitted).Becauset was unclear whether the District Court would have reached a
different result had it been informed of the “precise nature of plainttitsi®e of limitations
problem,” the @cuit remanded the case in order “to allow [the Judge] to decide whethem, giv
the surfacing of the statute lohitations problem, he wishe[d] to give plaintiff a further chance
by allowing the . . . action to proceedCiralsky, 355 F.3d at 674. (citations aimdernal
guotatiors omitted). Nonethelesghe CircuitstressedHat it was not “dictating any particular
result” by remanding the case and noted that the District Court was free to “cdmdirgetth
knell’ of [the] action or else allow the case to procedd.” (alterations omitted).

While Ciralsky does not mandate a decisither foror against the Plaintiffiere, the
undersigned notes that despite representation by cour@Gealaky, the Circuit was stiljuite
concerned that Plaintiff's claims might be foreclosed if he were not allowed todamse
complaint In the present case, we havara sePlaintiff. Thus, there is even more reason for
concern here than there wadimalsky. AlthoughherePlaintiff clearly hasknowledge of court
proceedings and substantive laws regarding civil procedure and employmentiden, she
is not a trained lawyer. This faatpupled withour Circuit’s“jurisprudential preference . .far
adjudication of cases on their merits rather than on the basis of forniatibassels in feor of
allowing the amendmentd. at 674 (citation anthternalquotationsomitted) As the Grcuit
noted, “[tjhe Federal Rules reject the approach that pleading is a game of wkilch one
misstep by counsel may be decisive to the outcome andtdlceqpinciple that the purpose of
pleading is to facilitate a proper decision on the merit.{citation omitted). Accordingly,

because there is no apparprejudice to Defendantthe Court will not allow a few missteps by
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apro separty to determinéhe outcome of this litigation. This result is consistent with the
disposition ofCiralsky on remand where tHaistrict Court granted the Plaintiff's motion to
amend his complaint, noting no prejudice to the Defendant where the parties had not begun
discovery. Ciralsky v. CIA No. 00-1709, Doc. 43, Mem. Ogt 4(D.D.C. June 9, 2004)see
Chrysler Corp. v. Fedders Cor®b40 F. Supp. 706, 715-16 (S.D.N.Y. 198¥)ting that a trial
courtmight be unwarranted in denying leave to améhthe pleader would lose its claim unless
it is added to the present suit"Jhus, Plaintiff's motion to amend will grantedwith respect to

her Section 1981 claims.

C. Plaintiff’'s “Post- Judgment Amended Complaint”

Notwithstanding the decision to grant Plaintiff’'s motion to amend, the Court notes tha
her “PostJudgment Amended Complaint,” (Doc. 41-2), contains many confussngell as
apparentlyinconsistent and implausibélegations. Despite these challenggsp sepleadings
must be liberallyconstrued, as they are held tess stringenstandards thaformal pleadings
drafted by trained lawyer’s Budik v. Dartmouthditchcack Med Citr., Civil Action No. 12-329
(RBW), ----F. Supp. 2d---, 2013 WL 1386211, at *4 (D.D.C. April 5, 2013) (citiggickson v.
Pardus,551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007)). Given this liberal standard, the ColippavsePlaintiff's
proposed complaint, coubt~count, in order to determine which counts and allegations would
survive a Rule 12 motion to dismisSeeBowie v. Gonzale<Livil Action No. 03-948 (RCL),
2006 WL 1319549, at *2 (D.D.C. May 4, 2006)tations omitted) (The court may deny a
motionto amendas futile if the proposed claim would not survive a motion to distjss.
Althoughsome of Plaintiff's allegations are difficult to beligVga] court considering Rule

12(b)(6)motion must construe the complaint in the ligidst favorableo the plaintiff and must
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accept as true all reasonable factual inferences drawn frorpMatled factual allegatioris.

See Daniels v. District of Columbi@94 F. Supp. 2d 61, 65 (D.D.C. 2012) (citation omitted).

1. GenderClaims

BecausdPlaintiff's gender claims are not cognizable under Section 1981, Plaintiff's
“sexual harassment” claims will be dismisseéth prejudice. SeeBello v. Howard Uniy, 898F.

Supp. 2d 213, 219 (D.D.C. 201iting Runyon v. McCrary427 U.S. 160, 167 (1976)).

2. National Origin Claims

Because Section 1981 does not protect against discrimination based solely upon one’s
“place or nation of . . . origin,” Plaintiff's nationatigin claims will be dismissed with prejudice.
SeeChowdhury v. Hilton Hotels CorpCivil Action No. 08€v-2250 (RLW), 2011 WL
3742721, at *2 (D.D.C. August 25, 201(t)ting Saint Francis College v. Al-Khazrafi81 U.S.

604, 613 (1987)

3. Count | “Sexual Harassment/Hostile Work Environment Based on
Ethnicity/National Origin in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 Calvin
L. Smith, Sr.”
Count Ik “Retaliation Based on Ethnicity/National Origin Violation of 42

U.S.C. § 1981 Calvin L. Smith, Sr.”

a. Ethnicity
I. Hostile Work Environment
Plaintiff's ethnic originclaims as assertegainst Smith may go forward.
While on the one hand she asserts that some of Smith’s alleged conduct occurred after she

“proved non-responsive,” presumably to his purported sexual advasee&niend. Compl.
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103), Plaintiff also alleges that “similarly situated employees not of Plaintiff's ethnicitwere
not subject to the same conditions of employment as PlaintBedd. 11 104, 110%
Specifically,Plaintiff asserts that Smitmarassednd/or retaliatedgainst her based on her
ethnicity bydenying her work opportunities, subjecting her to “events and incidents that
disrupted her ability to work,” accusing her of inappropriate work conduct, isolatthg a
ostracizingher,alleging she was homeless, allegthgt she was an undocumented immigrant,
subjecting her to a “false and fabricated memaEAP process under the threat of termination,”
andterminatingher. (SeeAmend. Compl. 1104, 109-10, 113, 136, 140Therefore, Plaintiff
has set forth sufficient facts to support a viable Section 1981 hostile work envirarianent
based orethnicity. SeeChowdhury v. Hilton Hotels CorpCivil Action No. 08-€v—2250

(RLW), 2011 WL 3742721, at *2 (D.D.C. August 25, 2011) (noting that claims based on
“ancestry or ethnic characteristics” are actionable under Section (c%8ig Runyon v.

McCray, 427 U.S. 160, 167 (1976)).

il. Retaliation
With respect to her retaliation claims, Plainéiffeges that shénitiated discussions”
with her EEO representative, but later termindbes after “she discovered the supposedly
‘confidential’ conversations with the EEO rep . .. were relayed back to [co-ssqgrvi

9

DesJardin™ and “with her Introductory Appraisal, she would be terminated or placed on an

extended probation.” (Amendo@pl. § 52.) Plaintiff also claims she later “inquired into the

® The proposed Amended Complaint, which is currently at issue, can be foundendtd
attached to Rintiff's Motion for Reconsideration.SgeDoc. 411.) The Court will cite to that
proposed complaint as follows: “Amend. Compl.”

¥Paul DesJardin, who is Caucasian, was COG'’s Chief of Housing and Planning, @s ovel
of Plantiff's supervisors. (Amend. Compl. 1 12, 24.)
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internal/external EEO grievance process again,” but “after having heryngisicharacterized
and the continued incidents of bullying and intimidation intensifying,” she “abortede¢hond
attempt.” (Amend. Compl. 1 65.)

These allegations aseifficient to support a plausibtetaliation claimunder Section
1981. SeeHolcomb v. Powe]l433 F.3d 889, 901-02 (D.C. Cir. 20@6ytling the prima facie
case for retaliation claimshyisstEtoh v. Fannie Mag712 F.3d 572D.C. Cir.2013) (involving
hostile work environment arrétaliation claimaunder Section 1981). The Court is not
persuaded by COG’s argumehat Plaintiffdid not engage iprotectedactivity. (SeeDoc. 19,
COGSJ Resp. at4.) Both formal and informal complaints of discrimination have been
recognized as “protected activity” for purposes of allowing a retaliateim to go forward on a
dispositive motion.See Brooks v. Clinto841 F. Supp. 2d 287, 304 (D.D.C. 2012) (citations
omitted). Further, Plaintiff essentigllalleges that her efforts to engage in protected activity
were sabotaged by her employ&iven these allegations, Plaintiff has set forth sufficient facts

to state a claim forelief anddismissal is not appropriate at this stage of litigation.

b. Section 1981 claims asserted by &l employees

AlthoughPlaintiff does not indicate whether notshe was an awill employee, her
status as such does not foreclose her Section 1981scl&eeSheppard v. Dickstein, Shapiro,
Morin & Oshinsky59 F. Supp. 2d 27, 31-32 (D.D.C. 1999) (allowingvdt-employee to pursue
claims under Section 1981 because D.C. law treatdllagmployment “as a species of
contract”); Kennedy vD.C. Gov't 519 F. Supp. 2d 50, 59-61 (D.D.C. 2007) (allowing
employee without a contract to proceed under Section 1981 and noting observations by other

courts that a contract existed where the plaintiffotnise to perform work for the defendant,”
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constituted “consleration for the defendant’s promise to pay” the plaintiff) (citation, internal

guotations and alterations omitted).

C. Section 1981 claims asserted against individual defendants

Unlike Title VIl claims, Plaintiff may bring her Section 1981 claim against Smith
individually. SeeTnaib v. Document Tech4&LC, 450 F. Supp. 2d 87, 92 (D.D.C. 2006)
(finding that individuals with supervisory authority may be held liable underoBel981, bt
not coworkers);Miller v. Wachovia Bank, N.A541 F. Supp. 2d 858, 863 (N.D. Tex. 2008)
(“An employee who exercises control over the plaintiff with respect to anogmpht decision
may be individually liable if the employee was ‘essentially the saséie employer in
exercising this authority.”hut see Foley v. Univ. of Houston $¥&5 F.3d 333, 338 (5th Cir.
2003) (noting “a tension between [two Section 1981] decisionwith respect to the liability of
individual defendants who are not pat the employment contract’°

4, Count IlI: “Calvin L. Smith Sr. at Common Law Tortious Interference
w/Economic Advantage”

Plaintiff styles Count Il as a claim for “tortious interference with esoit advantage.”
Given Plaintiff'sfactualallegations and given this Court’s dutydonstrue claimgy pro se
plaintiffs liberally, the Gourt construes her allegations as asserting claims for both tortious

interference with contract and tortious interference with economic adeantag

2 Although Plaintiff alleges that Smith terminated her, the Court notekigatmnployment with
COG ended oor aroundJanuary 18, 2008 and it was not until March 11, 2008 that Plaintiff was
notified of her termination, which became effective on March 31, 2088Amend. Compl. 1
87-88.) Thus, it is not entirely clear to what extent, if any, he can be held indivibialaléyfor

her termination under Section 1981. However, because the termination is only one of many
discrimination and retaliatioallegations, the Court will leave this question for another day.
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Plaintiff blames Smith for the loss of her job, despite her expectation that her
employment would continue. (Amend. Compl. 11 117-1B) he elements of tortious
interference with contract are: ‘(1) the existence of a contract; (2) knowledye adritract; (3)
intentional procurement of a breach of the contract; and (4) damages resultingefioraach’”
Casco Marina Dey L.L.C. v. DC. Redevelopment Lakdyency 834 A.2d 77, 83 (D.C. 2003)
(citations omitted).At-will employees may bring such claims agaiteir supervisors if the
facts alleged by the Plaintiff indicate that a supervisor acted with malice fourthese of
causing the awvill employee’s “contract” to be terminate&ee Sorrells v. Garfincksl Brooks
Bros., Miller & Rhoads, Inc565 A.2d 285, 290-91(D.C. 1989)As such, Plaintifhas asserted
sufficient facts to sustain a aha against Smitlfior tortious interference with contractual
relations between she and COG.

Plaintiff also blames Smith for damaging her reputatiwh she appears @dlege that she
is nolonger employablas a consequenoé his conduct. (Amend. Compl. § 118.) Unlike her
allegations relating to her employmevith COG, these allegationggarding future employment
do not support a claim for relief.The elements of tortious interference with prospective
business advantage mirror those of interference with contract. To prevail, hosvplaentiff
obviously need not demonstrate the existence of a contract, but merely a prospective
advantageous biness transaction.Casco MarinaDev., 834 A.2d aB4 (citation omitted).
Nonetheless, that prospective business advantage must be onedbatrietcially reasonable
to expect.” Sabre Int’l. Sec. v. Torres Advanced Enterprise Solutions, 820 F. Supp. 2d 62,
77 (D.D.C. 201} (citing Democratic State Comm. of the District of Columbia v. Bebchilfk,
A.2d 569, 572 (D.C.1998)). Moreovég, plaintiff must show that the interferenad# the

accusedjvas intentional and #t there was resulting damagdstown v. Cary 503 A.2d 1241,
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1247 (D.C. 1986) (citation omitted). Plaintiff's vagagsertionshat she was unable to find a
job after her termination are not sufficient to meet these requirements. Sadioas do not
support the infereze thatSmith“intentionally” interfered Brown, 503 A.2d at 124&yith any
prospective business advantaigat was'commercially reasonable to expecSeeSabre Intern.
Sec, 820 F. Supp. 2d at 77.

To the extent Plaintiff claims Smith intentionally interfered vatiprospective business
advantagetelating to her personal affairseeAmend. Compl. § 68%kuch claimsnust be
pursued through a separate lawsuiity such claims are not “so related to claims in the action
within such oiginal jurisdiction that they form part ¢tfhie same case or controversgee28

U.S.C. § 1367(a). Thus, the Cod#gclines to exercise jurisdiction over these claims.

5. Count IV: “(Common Law) Common Law Fraud, Deceit,
Misrepresentation in Employment as to Calvin L. Smith, Sr.”

In her complaint, Plaintiff asserts that Smith offered her employmer®&t &d she
accepted the offer as a “true representation.” (Amend. Compl. { 125.) Howeveconrise of
her employment he “targeted” héharassed” her, and subjected her to “false and frivolous
Mandatory counseling, under threat of termination.” (Amend. Compl. 1Y 126-127.) Plaintiff
asserts that Smith was motivated, at least in part, by the desire to “impropertyhasself in
sometype of relationship, from which to obtain control/access to Plaintiff's peradiia@s.”
(Amend. Compl. § 128.) As a consequeot8mith’s alleged conduct, Plaintiéfaims she was
“prevented from the enjoyment of her employment” and that she suffered d&inaiipeis her
employment and beyond.” (Amend. Compl. 11 129-30.)

These facts are insufficient to establish fraud or misrepresentation in gonrveith

Plaintiff's employment at COGIndeed, Plaintiff admits she was offered employment and
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accepted it. Thus, with respect to her employment at COG, there was no “falseergaties of

a material fact” and no evidence that Plaintiff suffered damages as a resultatiegey false
representationSeeStevens, Ed. Standard Civil Jury Instructions for the District of Columbia §
20.01 (2013 Rev. Edition).

To the extent Plaintifbllegeshat Smith offered her employment at COG for the purpose
of ultimately gaining access to her family hgrfag the purpose of gaining control over her
personal affairsor for some purpose not directly related to her employment at Ge6, (

Amend. Compl. 11 68, 128,148-48he must pursue any fraalkims in this regard elsewhere
because the undersigned declines to exercise supplefqueis@iction over such claimsSee28

U.S.C. § 1367(a).

6. Count V: “(Common Law) Violation of D.C. Code § 22-3704 Bias
Motivated . . . [sic] Intimidation Calvin L. Smith, Sr.”

Plaintiff next asserts a claim undée District of Columbia BiasRelated crime statute,
which contains the following provision allowing civil actions:
Irrespective of any criminal prosecution or the result of a criminal putisa,
any person who incurs injury to his or her person or pro@etg result of an
intentional &t that demonstrates an accusegdtejudice based on the actual or
perceived race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital statusnakrs
appearance, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, family
responsibilities, homelessness, physical disability, matriculation, or political
affiliation of a victim of the subject designated act shall have a civil cause of
action in a court of competent jurisdiction for appropriate relief . . . .
D.C. Code Section 22-3704(a).
This provision does not appear to apply to the instant set offactsuse itgpears to
solelyallow civil actions for conduct that would constitute a bias related “crime.”ethtiee

District of Columbia enacted the bias related eriegislation“to provide for the collection and
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publication of data about bias-related crime, and to provide enhanced penaltiesdos peho
commit a biagelated crime and appropriat®il relief for avictim of biasrelatedcrime” D.C.
Legis. Serv. 8-121 (Act 8-130) (1990) (emphasis addédg Act defines a “Biaselated crime”
as a “designated atftat demonstrates an accused’s prejudice based on actual or perceived”
status such as race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age and sexuationeritaC. Code 8
22-3701(1Xemphases added). A “designated act” is defined as a “criminal a«€.”"dode §
22-3701(2. Plaintiff has not set forth any facts that might indicate Smith committed a bias
related”crime’ with respect to heand even if $ie hadthat any such crimeomehowrelated to

her employment at COG. As such, Count V of her complaint will be dismissed with peejudi

7. Count VI: “Retaliation Based on Ethnicity/National Origin Violation of
42 U.S.C. § 1981 as to Calvin L. Smith, Sr., Paul DesJardin,
ImeldaRoberts, Janet Ernst, as to Eulalie Gower Lucas, Abdul
Mohammad”

In Count VI, Plaintiff makes a blanket allegation tBatith, DesJardirand the other
named Defendants retaliated against her because of ethnicity by engagiru iofriine same
conductassociated witlsmith. (Amend. Compl. § 136.) These blanket allegations alone are not
sufficient to sustain actionab&ection 198klaimsagainst all of the named individual
defendantspartialarly wherePlaintiff sets forth no facts that might indicat@me of the
defendantfiadsupervisory authoritgt COG As such, the Court witxamine the specific

claims Plaintiffmakes with respect to eaohthenamedCOG defendants

a. Smith
This claim ismirrors Count liwith respect to Calvin Smith. Therefore Count VI will be

dismissed with respect to Smith.
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b. DesJardin

After she initiated discussions with EEO Representative Mesrat Seifu, Plalletfes
that Paul DesJardiher casupervisor, and Smith informed her that she was being terminated
because “she had ndbne any work, shown initiative, creativity, or an outgoing attitude.”
(Amend. Compl. 11 52, 54.) This threat apparently occurred around the time of her geréorm
appraisal in August or September 2006, but appardrglyermination matter was initially
resolved because Plaintiff continued at COG until March 2088eAmend. Compl. {1 52-69,
88.) However, Plaintiff claimghat as a consequence of the apptdghich apparently was
resolved as well3he was “left in total isolation.” (Amend. Compl. § 613ter, after she
complained about an incident involving aworker, Plaintiff claimsDesJardirand SmitHailed
to resolve the matter, but instead credtadre hostilityaroundPlaintiff, casting Plaintiff in a
false light as a troublemaker who doesn’t do her work.” (Amend. Compl. 11.63-64

In the paragraph following her discussion of the alleged hostility, she indibatebe
“inquired into the inérnal/externaEEO grievanceprocess again,” but “aborted this second
attempt” after the “incidents of bullying and intimidation intepisd].” (Amend. Compl. { 65.)
Although $e does not directly link the intensified bullying and intimidation to De#Jashe
does allege that he and Smith later incredsedvorkload, thereby forcing her to withdraw from
training courses she sought to complete in an effort to transition to another COttndapar
outside of the supervision of Smith and DesJardin. (Amend. Compl. PILntiff also alleges
that both Smith and DesJardin were involved in the second attempt to unjustifiably seibject h
EAP counseling. (Amend. Compl. § 84.)

Finally, Plaintiff groups DesJardin in with the COG empleyetaom sheaccuses of

ostracizingher, denying her work opportunities, and terminating her. (Amend. Compl. 1 136).
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Because DesJdin was Plaintiff's supervisor and some of #ilegedconductwassufficient to
meet the “adverse consequences” etintiff's allegdions support a Section 1981 claim for
retaliation. SeeHolcomb v. Powe)l433 F.3d 889, 901-02 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (finding lengthy
reduction in responsibility as sufficient to constitut@adverse consequergaffecting the terms,
conditions, oprivilegesof employment”) AyissiEtoh, 712 F.3d at 578 (discussing retaliation
standard)citing Holcomh 433 F.3d at 901-02};naib v. Document Tech+LC, 450 F. Supp.

2d at 92 (discussing Section 1981 claims as applied to individuals with supervisory authority

C. Roberts

Imelda Roberts was COG'’s Director of Human Resources. (Amend. Compl. WiB.)
respect to Roberts, Plairftifrst contacted Roberts around 2006 about the problematic
performance appraisal and the decision by Smith and Desdateérminate her. (Amend.
Compl. 1 55.)Apparently Roberts initiallyndicated she was unawawéthe decision and had
not received a copy of Plaintiff’'s performance appraisal, but later revidwe@gquetformance
appraisal and allegedly lied by indiceg Plaintiff had signed the performance appraisal,
althoughPlaintiff claims shéhad not done so. (Amend. Comfil 5456.) Later,in the
aftermath of &November 2007 email Plaintiff distributed at COG, Roberts and Smith asked
Plaintiff to send an apology to her co-workers. (Amend. Compl. 1 76, 80-83.) The nature of
the email is unclear from the complaint.

In addition to these allegatiospecifically directed aRobertsPlaintiff also alleges that
Roberts individuallyand collectively along with the other named defendants, engagadang
list of retaliatory actsincluding isolating and criticizing Plaintiff, denying her work

opportunities, terminating her, as well as alleging she was hometeisatishe was an
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undocumented immigrantyujecting her to a “false and fabricated mandatory EPA process
under the threat of termination,” “subjecting her to events and incidents that didneptbility

to work,” and terminating her. (Amend. Compl. 11 136, 14&)Human Resources Director,
Roberts appears to have had some decision making and/or supervisory authoritxge Basa
unclear to what extent she may haegticipatel in the challenged conduct while exercising that
authority, dismissal of the Section 1981 retaliation clagserted against Robeidsot

appropriate at this stage of the litigation.

d. Mohammad

Abdul Mohammad was the Senior Transportation Engineer at COG. (Amend. Compl. |
17.) Plaintiff claims that she “had an incident with” Mohammad in the CKtGhenette area,
which caused Plaintiff to be burned with hot water.” (Amend. Compl. § 72.) \8Helelaims
she reported “other incidents” to HR involving Mohaadtin the kitchenetteor “walking
down the hall that put her at great discomfort, to the point of intimidation,” she does not provide
any specific details. (Amend. Compl. { 7RJaintiff also claims Mohammad, individually and
collectively, engaged in the lorgst of challenged condudtiscussed above. (Amend. Compl. 1
136, 140.) Inasmuch as there is no indication he had supervisory authority over Plaintiff, he

Section1981 claims against Mohammad will be dismisaith prejudice.

e. Ernst
Janet Ernst was a Human Resources Analysat BOG. (Amend. Compl. 1 14.)
Plaintiff claims she discovered thedrtain “insurance/benefits information” was sent “c/o Jane

Ernest,” but that Plaintiff was informed by other employees that they had recegéred th
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insurance benefits information at their homes. (Amend. Compl. § 66.) When questioned about
the matter, Plaintiff claims Ernst “provided erroneous and misleading informiaid@mend.
Compl.  67.) Later, Plaintiff apparently commented about the allegedly erronémuasation
and Plaintiff's comments were later udgdunidentified individual$o “mischaracterize her as
having problems in her relations with e@rkersand communication.” (Amend. Compl. § 67.)
Plaintiff also alleges that her supervisors and Ernst “attempted” for a “séowido force her
participation in mandatory counseling. (Amend. Compl. 1 &hglly, Plaintiff alleges that she
“made a complaint” to Ernst over Plaintiff's interactions with Defendant Abcalidvhmad.
(Amend. Compl. § 73.Finally, Plaintiff again assextthis defendant, along with the other
named defendants, individually and collectively engaged itotiggist of actions discussed
above. Inasmuch as there is no indication that Ernst had any supervisory authoftaiow;,

the Section 1981 claims against Ernst willdiesmissedwith prejudice.

f. Lucas
The Cout notes that inprior briefing, COGnoted the absence of any allegatiogiating
to Eulalie Gowers Lucaandthe present complaint suffers from the same deficiency. Plaintiff
only indicatesthat Eulalie Gowers Lucas wad eansportatiorEngineer IVat COG. (Amend.
Compl. § 15.) Plaintiff then goes onitwlude Lucasn the list of eéfendants who allegedly
engaged in the long list of actions discussed abdseeQompl. § 136.) There is no indication
Lucas had supervisory authority over the giffirand, therefore, the Section 198aims against

herwill be dismissedvith prejudice.
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8. Count VII: “(Common Law Tortious Interference as to Calvin L. Smith,
Sr. Paul DesJardin, Imelda Roberts, Janet Ernst, Eulalie Gower
Lucas, Abdul Mohammad”

Plaintiff asserts a common law tortious interference ckgainst all of the COG
defendants. She contends that she had reason to believe her employment would continue and
that her reputation would “remain intdct(SeeAmend. Compl. 1 144-48However,
according tdPlaintiff, the alleged harassment by Smith, DesJardin, Roberts, Ernst, Lucas,
Mohammad and Bailéy interfered with those expectatigmsusingher to suffer economic
harm including the inability to secure future employment, as well as the loss arhgy home.

(1d. 7 148-49.)

As discussed abovgiven the facts presented hdrgaintiff’s inability to secure future
employment does not support a claim for tortiousrferencewith prospective business
advantage. Also, as indicated above, the Court declines to exercise jurisdictianystams
relating to the loss of Plaintiffsome orany alleged interference with her personal affa8se
28 U.S.C. § 1367]a Finally, herclaims relating to her loss of employmentCOGare
cognizableonly to the extent they are asserted against defendants who had some level of
supervisory authority: Smith, DesJardin and, presumably, Rol&seSorrells 565 A.2dat
290-91. Thus,his count will be dismissed without prejudice as asserted against the remaining

COG defendants.

% Defendant Dennis Bailey was a Public Safety Planner at COG. (Amend. Compl. § 16.)
Although he is not listed in the caption for Count VII, he is listed as one of the defend&wets in t
body of the text for Count VII. Seed.)
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9. Count VIII:  “(Common Law) Violation of D.C. Code § 22-3704 Bias
Motivated . . . Intimidation as to Calvin L. Smith, Sr. Paul
DesJardin, Imelda Roberts, Janet Ernst, Eulalie Gower Lucas,
Abdul Mohammad”

In addition to SmithPlaintiff also asserts @vil claim under the BiaRelated crime
statute against the othedimidual COG defendants. However, as with Smith, Plaintiff has not
asserted any facts that might remotely support this claim with respect to Deslalzbrts,

Ernst orLucas. Thus, Plaintiff's claim will be dismissed with prejudias asserted against these
defendants.

To the extenPlaintiff seeks relief under the civil remedies provision of the hate crime
statuteagainst Mohammad, with whom she had an “incident . . . which caused [her] to be burned
with hot water,” (Amend. Compl.  72je Gurt declines to exercise jurisdictiorSee28
U.S.C. § 1367(a). Accordingly, thisent will be dismissewithout prejudice as asserted

against Mohammad.

10. Count IX “Hostile Work Environment/Disparate Treatment
Basedon Ethnicity/National Origin Violation of 4P).S.C. § 1981
as to COG”

Plaintiff alleges widespread harassment involving lodther supervisorsas well as
numerous cavorkers As such, Plaintiff's Section 1981 harassment claiacti®nableagainst
COGdirectly. AyisstEtoh v. Fannie Mager12 F.3d 572, 577-78 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (discussing

employer liability for supervisor and a@erker harassment).
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11. Count X: ‘Retaliation Based on Ethnicity/National Origin
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 48 COG

Given the viability of Plaintiff's retaliation claims agairsgtveraindividual COG
defendants, Plaintiff's Section 19&italiation claimglirectly asserted agahCOGmay go

forward.

12. Count XI:  Title VII Discriminationbased on gendand
nationalorigin
Count XlI:  Title VIl Retaliationbased on gender and national
origin
Count Xlll:  ADEA disparate treatment
Count XIV: ADEA retaliation

As discussed above, Plaintiff cannot proceed with her TitleADEA claimsor national
origin claimsand, therefore, the motion to amend her complaithbe denied with respect to

these claims.

13. Count XV: “Common Law Fraud, Deceit, Misrepresentation in
Employment as to COG

In Count XV,Plaintiff asserts a claim for fraud against COG. Hereasteanpts to hold
COG responsible fadmith’sallegedfraud with respect to haffer of employment antis
alleged‘frivolous” referral of herto mandatorycounseling. (Amend. Compl. { 187-8%je
claimsthe goal behind this alleged fraud was to “assert himself in some typatanship,
from which to obtain control and access to Plaintiff's personal affairs aatbdsgAmend.
Compl. § 186-90.) As discussed above, tliases are nbsufficient to support a claim for fraud
with respect tdPlaintiff’'s employment and any alleged employment related damdadeesefore,

this claim will be dismissedith prejudice.
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14. Count XVI: ‘Common Law- Negligent . .. [sic] Retention/
SupervisiorAs to COG

Plaintiff asserts a claim for negligent retention and/or sugierviagainst COG in Count
XVI. Here Raintiff alleges that COGacting through & agentsbreached its duty of care when it
failed toproperly monitor and manage its employees. (Amend. Compl.  195.) Distiert of
Columbia law, “negligence claims such as negligent supervision or retentionbepsedicated
only on common law causes of action or duties otherwise imposed [on the employer] by the
common law.” Beyene v. Hilton HotelSorp., 815 F. Supp. 2d 235, 252-3 n. 21 (D.D.C. 2011)
(citing Griffin v. Acacia Life Ins. C9925 A.2d 564, 576-77 (D.C. 2007)A claim that an
employer negligently supervised an employee who has sexually harassethplogee does not
transmutesexud harassment into a common law tortGriffin, 925 A.2d at 576-7{citation
omitted) This same logic applieg® claims of racial harassmenhich do not have their basis in
common law duties, but instead are based on statutory rights that cannot support atneglige
supervision claim.See idat 576 (listing an employer’s common law duties and noting that such
duties do not include a duty to protect an employee against gender haragsitnanfrosser &
Keeton on Torts § 80, at 569 (5th ed. 1984)).

However, because Plaintiff has a plausible claim against Smith, DesJaildroberts
for tortious interference with contract, Plaintiff may proceed with her regligetention and/or

supervision claim against COG.
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15. Count XVII:  “Violation of D.C. Code § 22-3704 Bias Motivated . . .
Intimidation as to COG

Plaintiff has not alleged any facts that woidicate COG engaged in any Biaslated
criminal activity. Thus Plaintiff's claim under the D.C. bias statute isaatibnableagainst

COG

16. Count XVIII: “Count XVIII Molly Keller andMHNET Retaliation
Basedon Ethnicity/National Origin Violation of 42
U.S.C. 81981"

Although Plaintiff's heading for Count XVIII indicates that the countiieated at
MHNet and Keller, Plaintifidoes not set forth any allegations relating toezithe company or
Keller in thissection of her complaintinstead, shalleges that COG, along with its supervisors
and agents, individually and collectiveBngagedn intentionalretaliationagainst Plaintiff.
(Amend. Compl. 1 203.)

In contrastthe body of her complaimontains specific allegations against Keller.
Plaintiff contendghat that ke contated Keller under threat of termination and explained that
the communication with Keller was nedluntary. (Amend. Compl. § 89-90Blaintiff also
alleges that Smith indicated Keller “would explain the nature/basis of the isgtleréspect to
thecownseling referral, but Keller never provided any explanation and simplyedftaintiff
back to Smitli (Id. 1 91.) Keller also allegedly referr@thintiff to the November 200émail,
she had authored, and told Plaintiff she should consider an apoldgy. (

Plaintiff furthercontends she was referred to Keller a second time, after which fPlainti
informed Keller that theeferral was gretext for retaliatiorcarriedout by a “disaffected co

manager (Amend. Compl. 1 92.) Based on these fdelaintiff contends that Keller fal by
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extension MHNet supported Smith and that support constituted retaliation.” (Amend.. §ompl
94))

Plaintiff has not cited tcand the Court is not aware of, any legal authority that allows her
to hold her employer’s contractor liable for alleged discrimination sheredfée the hands of
the employer’s servant. Section 1981 protects an individual’'s right “to make andeenfor
contracts . . . as is enjoyed by white citizens.” 42 U.S.C. §(aR81[T]he term ‘make and
enforce contracts’ includes the making, performing, modification, and teromnaticontracts,
and the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of the contractual
relationship.” 42 U.S.C. § 1981(b). Plaintiff's claims do not appear to implicate a “doatrac
relationship” between she and MidiNor Keller. Accordingly, this claim will be dismissetth

prejudice.

17. Count XIX: “Common law— Negligent . . . Retention/Supervision
asto Molly Keller andMHNET”

Plaintiff alleges that MHNet breached daty to secure and supervise qualified and well-
trained employees and that MHNet's alleged failure to do so is action@wteend. Compl. 1
95, 207-12.)According to Plaintiff, MHNet “exhibited deliberate indifference, subjertin
Plaintiff to intentional discrimination . . . and retaliation(Amend. Compl. § 211.However,
as explained above and beldWaintiff has not assertexdviable claim agast Keller, MHNet's
employee Therefore Plaintiff cannot assert a negligent retention/supervision claim against

MHNet as Keller's employerAccordingly, this claim will be dismissadslith prejudice.
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18. Count XX: “Common Law- Negligence Molly Keller antdMHNET”

Plaintiff appears to assert that Keller was negligent because she allegetjgeinyg
conduct that furthered Smith’s “fabricated and false” referral of Plafotiffounselingthereby
allegedly breaching Keller's dybf care to Plaintiff as a potential clienfSeeAmend. Compl.
1995, 214-18.) Itis unclear what duty of cartherKeller or MHNetowed to Plaintf under
these circumstancesd what, if any, damage waoximatelycaused by the referral

Accordingly, this claim will be dismissedith prejudice.

19. Count XXI:  “Common Law— Tortious Interference W/Economic
Advantage Molly Keller anMHNET”

Finally, Plaintiff asserts a tortious interference claim against MHNet and Keller. In
support ofthis claim, Plaintiff eges that Keller's involvement in the “false and fabricated”
referral to counseling interfered with Plaintiff’'s continued employme@iG®&. (Amend.
Compl. 11 219-224.) These allegations are not sufficient to esttidisKeller intentionally
procured a breach of Plaintiff’'s employment contr&&teCasco MarinaDev,, 834 A.2d at 83.

As such, this claim will be dismissed with prejudice.

[ll. CONCLUSION
Forforegoing reasons, the Cowvill grant Plaintiff relief in parand deny relief in part
The Court will grant Plaintiff's motion for relief from judgment on her Section 1%&ins.
However, the motion will be denied with respect to Plaintiff's Title VI, ADABA, gender
discrimination, sexual harassment and nati@migin claims.
Plaintiff's motion to amend her complaint will be granted on the following claims:

Ethnicity based Section 1981 Retaliation and Hostile Work Environment claimsdssgainst
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COG (Count IX and Count Xand Calvin Smiti{Count | and Count I})Ethnicity Based
Section 198Retaliationclaims asserted against DesJard@ount VI), and Roberts (Count VI)
Tortious Interference with Contract claims asserted against $@otimt 111), DesJardin (Count
VII) andRobertgCount VII) forallegedinterference with Plaintiff's employment at CO&nhd
negligent supervision and/or retention as asserted against COG (CountTk&/femaining
claims will be dismissed.

A separate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion. Any further motions to
amend will be viewed with extreme disfavor. Plaintiff has had countless opp@sioitamend
her complaint in the face of numerous motions to dismiss, as well as dismissahctidreby
this Court. As such, additional amendmearts unwarranted.

Going forwardthe Court admonishes Plaintiff that it will not tolertugherredundant
and excessive court filingas well as Plaintiff's failure to comply with both thecal Rules of

the Court and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

Digitally signed by Judge Robert L.
Wilkins

DN: cn=Judge Robert L. Wilkins, 0=U.S.
District Court, ou=Chambers of
Honorable Robert L. Wilkins,
email=RW@dc.uscourt.gov, c=US

——Date:2013.093016:19:34-04'00'

ROBERT L. WILKINS
United States District Judge

AN

SO ORDERED.

Date: Septembed0, 2013
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	c.  Section 1981 claims asserted against individual defendants
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	Plaintiff blames Smith for the loss of her job, despite her expectation that her employment would continue.  (Amend. Compl.  117-19.)  “[T]he elements of tortious interference with contract are: ‘(1) the existence of a contract; (2) knowledge of the...
	Plaintiff also blames Smith for damaging her reputation and she appears to allege that she is no longer employable as a consequence of his conduct.  (Amend. Compl.  118.)  Unlike her allegations relating to her employment with COG, these allegations ...
	To the extent Plaintiff claims Smith intentionally interfered with a “prospective business advantage” relating to her personal affairs, (see Amend. Compl.  68), such claims must be pursued through a separate lawsuit.  Any such claims are not “so rela...
	To the extent Plaintiff alleges that Smith offered her employment at COG for the purpose of ultimately gaining access to her family home, for the purpose of gaining control over her personal affairs, or for some purpose not directly related to her emp...
	Plaintiff alleges widespread harassment involving both of her supervisors, as well as numerous co-workers.  As such, Plaintiff’s Section 1981 harassment claim is actionable against COG directly.  Ayissi-Etoh v. Fannie Mae, 712 F.3d 572, 577-78 (D.C. C...
	Given the viability of Plaintiff’s retaliation claims against several individual COG defendants, Plaintiff’s Section 1981 retaliation claims directly asserted against COG may go forward.
	For foregoing reasons, the Court will grant Plaintiff relief in part and deny relief in part.  The Court will grant Plaintiff’s motion for relief from judgment on her Section 1981 claims.  However, the motion will be denied with respect to Plaintiff’s...
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